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) Judge CurtisL. Collier

PLAINTIFFS CONSOLIDATED
AMENDED CLASSACTION COMPLAINT

Plaintiffs, by their attorneys, and for their Consolidated Amended Class Action Complaint,
allege the following upon personal knowledge as to themselves and as to all other matters upon
information and belief based upon, inter alia, theinvestigation madeby and through their attorneys.

INTRODUCTION

1 Defendant UnumProvident Corporation and itsinsuring subsidiaries named with it
as defendants (collectively “ UnumProvident” or the “Company”), the leading provider of group
disability insurancein the United States, has put into place an elaborate corporate schemedesigned
to illegaly deny or terminate the long-term disability claims of thousands of disabled Americans.
UnumProvident has used its scheme to implement insurance claim denials based solely upon
financial and budgetary targets, rather than themerits presented by eachindividual’ sdisability claim.
Thisaction has been commenced to stop theseillega and alarming practicesand to ensurethat past,
current and future victims obtain afull and fair review of their claims.

2. The Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974 (“ERISA”) was enacted to

protect the interests of employees in the administration of their employer’ s welfare benefit plans.



In addition to conferring numerous rights upon plan participants, ERISA imposes duties upon the
peopleand corporationswho areresponsible for the operation of such plans. By law, planfiduciaries
are required to discharge their duties prudently, diligently, and solely in the interest of the plan’s
beneficiaries, for the exclusive purpose of providing promised benefits.

3. Thousands of employers across theUnited States sponsor employee welfare benefit
plansand hundreds of thousands of employees participateinthoseplans. Often, long-termdisability
insuranceis part of those plans. Long-term disability insurance provides an employee withincome
security when he or she becomes disabled due to an injury or illness.

4. Employers often fund these long-term disability benefits through the purchase of
group insurance policies.

5. After purchasing the insurance, employersroutinely delegate their fiduciary duties
to thelong-term disability insurer that has issued a group policy in connection with theemployer’s
plan. Insuch acircumstance, the employersallow insurers, such as UnumProvident’ ssubsidiaries,
to administer these plans and make critical decisions that affect the lives of some of the most
vulnerable American citizens.

6. UnumProvident has completely ignored the fiduciary duties imposed upon it by
ERISA and has actudly exploited ERISA through its elaborate, profit-driven scheme.
UnumProvident’ splanincludesasystem of financial incentivesthat it providesto itsemployeesfor
denying and terminating claims. The company gives bonuses and promotions to employees based
upon the number of claimsthey can deny.

7. UnumProvident saves money and increasesits profitsthrough aschemethat directs



its subsidiaries to breach their fiduciary duties. The Company engages in a variety of abusive
practices, including:

a Instituting targets, budgets, or goals for cost-savings to be
attained through the denial and termination of claims; the
claims do not receive a proper review by afiduciary and are
denied or terminated based upon UnumProvident’ sfinancial
targets rather than the medical and vocational evidence
concerning claimants' disabilities,

b. Providingfinancial incentivestoin-housephysicianswho will
“rubber stamp” previousdy made business decisions; the
physicians thus ignore their appropriate ethical obligations
and overlook strong medical evidence that would ordinarily
require adisability claim to be approved;

C. Implementing of compensation and/or bonus plans that
reward Company management for denying or terminating as
many claims as possible to meet special financial goals set by
the Company;

d. Authorizing more senior in-house doctors to alter the written
reportsof other “uncooperative”’ in-house doctorsin order to
justify aclaim denial or termination;

e Creating secret documents for each claim, at the time that
clamsarefiled, that, upon information and belief, setsatarget
date for cutting off future disability payments; these
“Duration Management” documents reflect business
decisions made by non-medical claims personnel as to when
the company believes claim payments should stop in the
future; physicians are not involved in creating these secret
documents which are kept outside of the claims file and
withheld from claimants, their attorneys, and reviewing
courts, and are not produced in discovery during litigation;

f. Encouragingagameamongthein-housephysicianscalled the
practice of “insurance medicine’; these in-house physicians
are prompted, encouraged, and pressured into (1) changing
their valid medical opinions as to a clamant’s disability in
order to justify a business-driven claim denial; (2) closing
their eyes to numerous sources of medical evidence that
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under ERISA.

support aclaimant’ sdisability; (3) remainingquiet about their
personal medical opinions that require further anaysis,
review, testing, and follow up that would reveal theclaimant’ s
obvious disability; and (4) putting “canned” statements into
their written reports that, on the surface, appear to validate a
previous decision by claims personnel to terminate ongoing
disability paymentsto aclaimant ortodeny aclaminthefirst
instance;

Recruiting claims personnel who have a reputation for
“closing claims’ (cutting off the ongoing monthly benefits of
disabled individuals);

Designing a system in which claimants who have multiple
disabling conditions will never receivean integrated overview
as to how dl of the disabling conditions combine to disable
the claimant; by deliberately fragmenting the claim into a
number of pieces and preventing a comprehensive review of
individuals with “co-morbid” conditions, the Company
ensuresthat theclaimant will not receiveacomprehensiveand
fair review of the claim; and

Employing numerous other practices that pressure clams
handling personnel into causing claims to be denied or
terminated without receiving a proper review.

Thus, by puttingitsown financial interests above the disabled individuals who have

been placed initstrust, UnumProvident has caused egregiousand routinebreaches of fiduciary duty

THE PLAINTIFFSAND THE CLASS

As set forth below in greater detail, plaintiffs Theresa Keir, Michelle Lynn
Washington, Karen Gately, Thomas Rocco, Thomas P. Davis, Bruce D. Reitman, Anne Coolidge
Gerken, Marvina Jenkins, Edmundo M. Rombeiro, Belinda Contreras, Susan B. Rudrud, Barbara
Schwartz, Nina DiPaola, Marcia Harris, and Sharon Dauphinee, are individuas who are insured

under group long-term disability benefit plans/policies underwritten and managed by
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UnumProvident’ s subsidiaries. They bring this action on behalf of themselves, and on behalf of a
nationwide class of similarly situated individuals, as defined below in Paragraph 10 (“Class
Members’ or “theClass’). Plaintiffsand the Class Members seek declarative, injunctive and other

equitablerelief under theEmployee Retirement and I ncome Security Actof 1974[29U.S.C.§1132].

10. Plaintiffs bringthis action on behalf of themselves and, under Fed.R.Civ.P.23(a) and
(b), as representatives of the Class, defined as:

All plan participantsand beneficiariesinsured under ERISA governed
long-term disability insurance policies/plans issued by
UnumProvident and the insuring subsidiaries of UnumProvident
throughout the United States who have had a long-term disability
claim denied, terminated, or suspended on or after June 30, 1999 by
UnumProvident or one or more of itsinsuring subsidiariesafter being
subjected to any of the practices alleged in the Complaint.

DEFENDANTS

11. UnumProvident isapublicly owned insurance holding company formed by the June
30, 1999 merger of UNUM Corporation of Portland, Maine and Provident Companies, Inc., of
Chattanooga, Tennessee. The merger combined the nation’ stwo leading disability insurersinto the
largest such insurer of its kind in the United States (“the merger”).

12. Through its subsidiaries, UnumProvident is the industry leader in group long-term
disability insurance. UnumProvident has operations throughout the United States, Canada, the
United Kingdom, Japan and elsewhere around the world.

13. UnumProvident is a Delaware corporation with its corporate headquarters in
Chattanooga, Tennessee. Since the time of the merger, UnumProvident, through its subsidiaries
(“the subsidiaries’), has engaged in the business of administering, providing, and/or underwriting
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the long-term group disability policies and claims of thousands of employers and hundreds of
thousands of employees throughout all 50 of the United States.

14. At dl times hereinafter mentioned, Defendant The Paul Revere Life Insurance
Company wasand isan insuring subsidiary of Defendant UnumProvident with a principal place of
business in Worcester, Massachusetts.

15.  Ataltimeshereinafter mentioned, Defendant Provident Lifeand Accident Insurance
was and is an insuring subsidiary of Defendant UnumProvident with a principal place of business
in Chattanooga, Tennessee.

16.  Atdltimeshereinafter mentioned, Defendant Provident Lifeand Casualty Insurance
Company wasand isan insuring subsidiary of Defendant UnumProvident with aprincipal place of
businessin Chattanooga, Tennessee.

17.  Atdl times hereinafter mentioned, Defendant First Unum Life Insurance Company
was and is an insuring subsidiary of Defendant UnumProvident with a principal place of business
in New York, New York.

18. At dl times hereinafter mentioned, Defendant Unum Life Insurance Company of
Americawas and isan insuring subsidiary of Defendant UnumProvident with a principal place of
businessin Portland, Maine.

19.  Atall times hereinafter mentioned, Defendant Colonial Life & Accident Insurance
Company was and is an insuring subsidiary of Defendant UnumProvident with aprincipal place of

business in Columbia, South Carolina.



20.  Defendant J. Harold Chandler was the Chairman, President and Chief Executive
Officer of UnumProvident prior to March 2003. Upon information and belief, Defendant Chandler
was and is aresident of Chattanooga, Tennessee.

21. Defendant Thomas J. Watjen was and has been the Chairman, President and Chief

Executive Officer of UnumProvident since March 31, 2003.

JURISDICTION AND VENUE

22. Jurisdiction is founded on 28 U.S.C. § 1131 and 29 U.S.C. § 1132(e) because the
clamsherein arise under the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974 [29 U.S.C. 81001
et seg.] and the regulations promulgated thereunder.

23. For pretrial purposes, venue is proper in the Eastern District of Tennessee pursuant
t028U.S.C. 881391(b)(1) and (c) and 29 U.S.C. 1132(€e)(2) because defendantsresidein thisjudicial
district, are subject to personal jurisdiction in this judicia district, and maintain contacts in this
judicial district sufficient to subject them to personal jurisdiction.

THE FIDUCIARIES

24, ERISA requires every employee welfare benefit plan to provide for one or more
named fiduciarieswho will have “ authority to control and manage the operation and administration
of thePlan” [29 U.S.C. 8 1102 (a)(1)]. Either by operation of law or through the implementation of
ERISA plan documents, the employers of the plaintiffs and the Class Members delegated their
fiduciary responsibility for claims administration to one or more of the subsidiaries, either directly

or indirectly.



25. Since the time of the merger, these subsidiaries of UnumProvident have been the
fiduciaries that have determined the éigibility of employee plan participants for disability benefits
under group insurance policiesissued by UnumProvident’ ssubsidiariesor other group insurers that
have hired one or more of these subsidiaries as aclaim administrator. Accordingly, at all relevant
times herein, since the time of the merger, UnumProvident’s subsidiaries were and are fiduciaries
pursuant to ERISA [U.S.C. § 1002 (21)].

26.  Atdltimesrelevant to this matter, and in doing the things herein aleged, defendant
UnumProvident and each of the other named defendants, were acting as agents of each other, and
acting as ajoint venture and a combined enterprise.

27. At dl such times since the merger, the claims handling conduct and the claim
decisions regarding disability benefits wereimplemented, coordinated, designed, and instituted by
UnumProvident, asthe parent company of its subsidiaries, with theexplicit purpose of controlling,
directing, and/or influencing the subsidiaries to violate ERISA.

CLASSACTIONALLEGATIONS

28. ClassMembersarenumerousandjoinder isimpracticable. Plaintiffsbelievethat there
are at least tens of thousands of Class Members. Their exact number and identities are known to
defendants.

29. Paintiffs will fairly and adequately protect and represent the interests of the Class.
The interests of plaintiffs are coincidental with, and not antagonistic to, those of the Class.

30. Plaintiffsarerepresented by counsel who have years of experiencein the competent
and successful prosecution of group disability claimsthat are subject to the provisions of ERISA.
Plaintiffs’ counsel areexperienced inhandlinglargescale, complex litigation, including classactions.
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31.  Thecommon questionsof law or fact asto theviolationsof ERISA that have caused,
and will continueto cause harm to the Class, predominate over questions, if any, that may affect only
individual Class Members.

32. Class action treatment in this matter is a superior method for the far and efficient
adjudication of this controversy, in that such treatment will permit a large number of similarly
situated persons to prosecute their common claims, in asingle forum, simultaneously, efficiently,
and without the necessary duplication of evidence, effort and expense that numerous individual
actions would require.

33.  Theprosecution of separate actionsby individual ClassMembers would create arisk
of inconsistent and varying adjudications, with the concomitant risk of the establishment of
incompatible and conflicting standards of conduct for defendants.

34.  Adjudication with respect to individual members of the Class could, as a practical
matter, be dispositive of theinterests of others not partiesto theadjudication or substantially impair
or impede their ability to protect their interests.

THE SCHEME TO VIOLATE ERISA

35.  Atoraroundthetimeof the merger, UnumProvident decided to nationalize many of
the cost-cutting techniques that had been previously implemented by two of its subsidiaries; i.e.,
Provident Life and Accident Insurance Company and Provident Life and Casualty Insurance
Company. Former and present employeesand corporate officershavetestified under oath asto this
integration of anational plan to make the Chattanooga claimshandlingand claim denial schemethe
standard and uniform practice throughout the various claims offices of defendants, including the
officesin Portland, Maine, Chattanooga, Tennessee, and Worcester, Massachusetts.
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36.  Also,onJune 13, 2000, Ralph Mohney, aSenior Vice President of UnumProvident,
testified before the U.S. Congress Subcommittee on Social Security of the House Committee on
Ways & Meansthat UnumProvident’ sintegrated and uniform claims handling practice isknown as
its “Claim Management Model.” At the time of the merger, UnumProvident’s Chief Executive
Officer, J. Harold Chandler, publicly announced that UnumProvident would coordinate the
management of al of thesubsidiariesto form a“ combined enterprise.” Itisthiscombined enterprise
that has been responsible for the conduct delineated herein.

37. Theschemeinstituted by UnumProvidentincluded aplan to continueand expand the
ongoing practice by the two Provident subsidiaries to exploit ERISA by characterizing as many
claims as possible as governed by ERISA and to create an “administrative record” upon a claim
denial that could confine the record and withstand the lower level of scrutiny that is applicable in
many ERISA actions. The plan included the use of in-house physicians who would assist in the
creation of apaper trail in aclam file that would exclude from the record evidence supporting the
clam for disability benefits and receive deference by afederal court upon review of adenied claim.

38. In 1995, the Provident subsidiaries circulated an internal memo touting the
profitability of this plan. The memo indicated that claims that would ordinarily receive intense
scrutiny in alitigation, resulting in a judgment, verdict or settlement, could instead be summarily
denied within the context of ERISA resulting in no claim payments being made at all. The memo
discussed how acertain studied group of claims, that resulted in the payment to disabled individuals
of $12 million, would have resulted in no paymentsbeingmadeif the claims had been administered
under ERISA. The analysis in that memo led UnumProvident to the conclusion that if ERISA
governs, the Company could save many millionsof dollars by denying such groupinsuranceclaims,
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aslongasthecorrect paper traill was created. The claims practices described in this Complaint were
designed to createjust such apaper trail. Inimplementing the scheme, however, the Company has
ignored the fiduciary obligationsimposed by ERISA and hasillegally victimized, and continuesto
victimize, many thousands of disabled Americans.

39. Rather than faithfully discharging their duties as plan fiduciaries for the exclusive
purpose of providing benefits to participants, UnumProvident’s subsidiaries, as directed by
UnumProvident, operate long-term disability denial factories, efficiently denying and terminating
claims, not on themeritsof anindividual claim but, rather, to satisfy the self-interested financial goals
of UnumProvident and other group insurers that have hired UnumProvident and/or its insuring
subsidiariesto act as fiduciary/claim administrators.

IMPLEMENTATION OF THE SCHEME

40. Most concisely, theschemewasbasically aplan to, inthewordsof UnumProvident’s
former Vice President and Corporate Medical Director, Dr. William Feist, “. . . find any reason,
including illegitimate reasons, to deny existing disability clams.”

41.  Aswill beset forthmorefully below, UnumProvident putstheproverbia “ cart before
the horse” in making its benefit determinations. UnumProvident’s non-medical claims personnel
first make a business decision to terminate a claim, and subsequently submit theclam fileto thein-
house medical department for a goal-oriented review of the medical information.

42.  Theclaimsof plaintiffsandtheClassMemberswerereviewed and decided inany one
or more of UnumProvident’ s claims processing unitsin Chattanooga, Tennessee, Portland, Maine,

Chicago, Illinois, Worcester, Massachusetts, Glendale, California, or Tarrytown, New York.
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UnumProvident’s claim denial factory model is uniform in every location where UnumProvident
reviews such files and makes such determinations.

43. When aclaimisreceived by UnumProvident, the medical documentation in support
of that claim isreviewed by atriage person, the medical credentials of whom is unknown.

44.  Thetriage person then determineswhat Impairment Unit isto be assigned theclaim,
e.g., General Medical, Orthopedic, Psychiatry, Cardiology, or Cancer.

45, If claimant has morethan onedisabling condition (“comorbidity”), theclaim would,
nonetheless, only be evauated for one medical condition in only one of those discrete |mpairment
Units.

46. Once the Plan Participant’s claim is assigned to a discrete Impairment Unit, a
Customer Care Specialist, with no medical training, assumesthe control of the claim and generates
a“Duration Management Document.” The Duration Management Document setsforth the date on
which the disabled person is expected to recover and isgenerated prior to any in-house professional
medical review of thefile.

47. Uponinformationandbelief, plaintiffsallegethat UnumProvident utilizestherecovery
dates set forth in the Duration Management Documents to calculate its future monthly financial
exposure and to set target dates for claim denials.

48. TheDuration Management Document existsonly in defendants’ electronic files, and
defendants forbade its printing and placement in aclaimant’sfile. Thus, it issecreted from review
by outsiders to the Company. When an ERISA claimant or his or her attorney makes arequest to

review dl of thedocumentsin UnumProvident’ sclaim file pursuant to theprovisionsof ERISA, this
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business-oriented document, which is geared toward cutting off benefits at a specific time in the
future, is kept secret.

49, In addition, defendants forbid the printing of electronicaly-kept Customer
Profile/Account M anagement Database Documentsor their subsequent placement intoaclamant’s
file, and thusthey are secreted from review by outsidersto the Company, including claimants, their
counsel, and reviewing courts. When an ERISA claimant or his or her attorney makes arequest to
review dl of thedocumentsin UnumProvident’ sclaim file pursuant to theprovisionsof ERISA, this
business-oriented document is kept secret.

50. In order to maintain or increase its profits, UnumProvident provides its financial
targets each month to itsImpairment Heads. Upon information and belief, UnumProvident utilizes
its potential monthly exposure to calculate a monthly budget of available funds to make ongoing
disability payments.

51.  Thelmpairment Heads, in turn, advisetheir Claims Consultants and Customer Care
Specialists of the monthly sum available for payments for a particular month by means of team
meetings, memosor by “white boards.” The Customer Care Specialiststhenreview their clamfiles
to determine how many claims they must terminate to meet these financial goals.

52. Claims with a higher monthly benefit receive greater consideration for termination.

53. Claims, especidly those with a higher dollar value, are subjected to internal review
committees, colloquially called “round tables,” or “scrub process’ review groups, or other ad hoc
committees, designed to terminate or deny claims to achieve financia savings quotas for the

Company that had been previously targeted.
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54, TheCustomer Care Specidistsindicatether projected contributionsto thebudgeted
amount by means of a memo outlining various pending claims and the amount of money that can
besavedif theclaimis*®closed” (cutting off monthly benefitsto thedisabled individual). Thememo
isthen provided to that Customer Care Speciaist’ s assigned Claim Consultant.

55. The Impairment Heads annual bonuses, through a Management Incentive
Compensation Plan, are based on their “productivity” in denying claims.

56. A Customer Care Specialist’sahility to efficiently terminate clamsaffectshis or her
promotional opportunities within UnumProvident.

57.  On many occasions, before a claim file, with its attendant medica history, is
submitted to an in-house medical doctor, UnumProvident has already decided to deny or terminate
theclam. After aCustomer Care Specialist decidesto deny or terminate aclaim, the Customer Care
Specidist or the Clam Consultant meets with a UnumProvident nurse who recommends a clam
denial or termination. Thenursereviewsthefile, writesthat adenial or termination isrecommended,
and then presents the file to one of UnumProvident’ s in-house medical doctors.

58.  TheCustomer Care Specialists,withnomedical training, only present thenurseswith
those portions of the medical records that the Customer Care Specialist deems relevant. Other
pertinent records are kept from review by the nurse and, subsequently, the doctor.

59. UnumProvident’ sin-house nurse is the first medical professional to review thefile
after the decision has been made to deny or terminate a plan participant’s claim.

60. UnumProvident’ sin-housenursesreview and summarizethemedical recordsinevery
filebeforeit is presented to an in-house medical doctor, along with arecommendation to terminate
the claim.

14



61. UnumProvident’ sin-housenurses promotional opportunitiesaredetermined by their
ability to review as many medical files as possible.

62. UnumProvident’ sin-house medical doctors rely on thein-house nurses’ summary
of the relevant medical records to conduct an expeditious review of aclaim.

63.  Thein-house nurses failure to review and summarize all of a claimant’s medical
records make it impossible for a clamant to get a full and far review of the clam by
UnumProvident’ s in-house medical doctors.

64. UnumProvidentin-housenursesarevested with thesolediscretionto determinewhat
medical specidist canreview afile.

65. UnumProvident’ sin-housemedical doctors performancereview and, ultimately, their
bonus is based on the amount of files that they can review per day.

66. UnumProvident’ sin-house medical doctors, in order to achieve higher review rates,
do not actually review a claimant’s medical records. Rather, they rely upon the nurses’ summary
and recommendation and “sign off” on aclaim denial or termination. This*sign-off” confirmsthe
clam determination of the Customer Care Specialist whose promotional prospects are directly
related to the number of claims he or she can deny or terminate.

67. A former Associate Medical Director of UnumProvident, Dr. Patrick McSharry, has
testified under oath that “sign-offs’ were frequent and illegd, blatantly contradicting the ERISA
statutory scheme.

68. If UnumProvident’s in-house doctors refuse to “sign-off” on the decisions of the

Customer Care Specidlists, their superiors threaten their career paths.
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69. If UnumProvident’ s in-house doctors refuse to “sign-off” on the decisions of the
Customer Care Specialists, they are chastised by their co-workers.

70. If UnumProvident’ sin-house doctors regularly refuseto “sign-off” on thedecisions
of the Customer Care Specidlists, that Customer Care Specialist, or thein-house nurse, shopsfor a
“compliant” in-house medical doctor who will “sign-off” on the desired determination.

71. The in-house medical doctor’s initid evaluation and report are not kept in the
claimant’ sfileand, thus, areillegally secreted from a claimant when that claimant requests areview
of hisor her claim file pursuant to 29 CFR 2560.503-1 (g)(1)(ii).

72. Disturbingly, defendants destroy recordsof in house medical staff which support the
insureds’ claim for disability. Infact, aFederal Court has concluded that defendants have admitted
to such practices as destruction of original medical reports from examining physicians.

73.  UnumProvident’s in-house medical doctors are instructed to couch their medical
opinions in certain language to avoid compromising the adverse benefit determinations of claims
personnel.

74. In fact, if an in-house medical doctor determines that a claimant’s restrictions and
limitations are supported by his medical history, hisor her written medical opinion is changed to
reflect that the restrictions and limitations are not supported by “ objective medical evidence.”

75. UnumProvident’s in-house doctors are instructed to disregard their independent
medical knowledge when examining the medical records in a claimant’s file. Rather, they are
instructed to review the file solely for “objective” proof of the disability from the claimant’s
physicians, even if the in-house doctor clearly sees a misdiagnosis, error, or other information
favorable to a determination of disability.
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76.  When UnumProvident’ sin-house doctors cannot make adetermination of disability
from the medical records in the clam file, they are prohibited from requesting further medical
information or suggestingthat further testing needsto bedonein order to evaluatewhether aclaimed
impairment exists.

77. It is within the sole discretion of claims personnel, with no medical training, to
authorize further medical testing.

78.  Whenanin-housemedical doctor findsareferencetotheexistenceof another treating
physician in a clamant’s medical records, UnumProvident forbids its in-house doctors from
requestingthose medical recordswhen those other physiciansarein abetter position to diagnosethe
injury or illness.

79. Because of UnumProvident’ s deliberate fragmentation of itsimpairment evaluation
scheme, UnumProvident’ sin-house doctors are unable to fully assess themultiple impairments of
comorbid claimants to arrive at that claimant’s cumulative restrictions and limitations. Thus, if a
claimant suffersfrom two or moreimpai rmentswhich independently would not render theclaimant
disabled, his or her claim is denied or terminated, even though the cumulative impairments render
the claimant disabled.

80. UnumProvident’ sin-house doctors who have a reputation for carefully scrutinizing
medical evidence are excluded from their Impairment Unit’s monthly roundtable meetings where
clam denial or termination decisions are made.

81 UnumProvident’s Customer Care Specialists quote in-house medical doctors
opinions out of context to deny or terminate aclaim, even where that doctor fully retractshis or her
statements.
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82. Customer Care Specialists ignore medical opinions when they are supportive of a
claim and determination of disability.

83. UnumProvident’s Customer Care Speciaists walk in to in-house medical doctors
unannounced to ask that doctor pointed questions regarding medical portions of aclaimant’sclam
file that he or she does not understand. The in-house doctor writes a brief opinion, known as a
“walk-in,” based on hisor her limited review of the medical file. That opinionisthen used by the
Customer Care Specialist to deny or terminate aclaim.

84. UnumProvident also employed variousformsof incentivefeesand awards, including
oneknown asthe“Hungry Vulture Award,” an engraved glasstrophy bearingthelegend: “ Paitence
my foot. I’ m going to kill something,” to improperly motivatethedenial or termination of legitimate
claims.

85. ERISA requiresUnumProvident todischargeitsfiduciary dutieswithrespecttoaplan
solely intheinterest of the participants and beneficiaries and with utmost, undivided loyalty to their
interests.

86. By implementingaprofit-motivated claim review factory, whose assembly lineends,
ultimately, inthetermination of valid claims, UnumProvident has breached, and continuesto breach,
itsfiduciary obligations to plaintiffs and the Class Members.

87. The scheme and system described above has deprived, and continues to deprive,
plaintiffs and the Class Members from receiving afull and fair review of their claimsby afiduciary
that properly discharges its obligations under ERISA.

88. Inaddition, UnumProvident’ sCustomer Care Speci alistsdiscourageplan participants
from appealing UnumProvident’s initial adverse benefit determinations to prevent them from
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exhausting their administrative remedies under ERISA and thus preclude them from bringing legal
and equitable actions against UnumProvident’ s subsidiaries.

89. Moreover, subsequent to UnumProvident’ sinitial adverse benefit determination, its
Customer Care Specialists encourage implacable plan participants to file de minimis appeals to
ensure that the claim denial isupheld on appeal and to limit the administrative record before acourt
in a subsequent legal action.

FACTUAL BACKGROUND OF THE CLAIMS

TheresaKeir

0. During her employment with areal estate company, Cushman & Wakefield Inc.,
plaintiff Theresa Keir became insured under a group long-term disability policy issued by UNUM
to Cushmman & Wakefield Inc., for Ms. Keir's benefit.

91.  Onorabout March 3,2000, Ms. Keir became disabled dueto chronic pain arisingout
of breast cancer surgeriesin both her left and right breasts, L-5, L-4, S-1 spinal fusions, removal of
aprecancerous ovarian cyst, dermatomyocitis, two herniated discsin her neck, and fibromyalgia.

92. Atthetimeof the commencement of her disability, Ms. Keir wasafinancial systems
anayst with Cushman & Wakefield, Inc.

93. UnumProvident caused Ms. Keir’ sclaimfor long-termdisability benefitstobedenied
in or about December 2000, based upon an in-house medical department review of her medical
records.

94, By correspondence dated in or about February 2001, Ms. Keir appealed UNUM’ s

initial adverse long-term disability benefit determination pursuant to 29 C.F.R. § 2560.503-1(q).
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95, In her appeal, Ms. Keir conclusively demonstrated that she satisfied the definition of
disability set forth in her group policy.

96. By way of adecision on review, in or about July 2001, UnumProvident caused the
previous adverse benefit determination to be upheld, based on its medical department’s review of
her file.

97. Upon information and belief, UnumProvident’s formulation, implementation and
application of theforegoing uniform offending claims practices has caused, and continues to cause,
harm to Ms. Keir in violation of ERISA.

Michelle L ynn Washington

98. On or about March 11, 1996, plaintiff Michelle L ynn Washington becameemployed
as an attorney with the law firm of Schulte Roth & Zabel LLP (“ Schulte Roth”).

99. During her employment with Schulte Roth, M's. Washington becameinsured under
a group long-term disability policy issued by First UNUM Life Insurance Company, a
UnumProvident subsidiary.

100. OnMay 29,1998, Ms. Washington became disabled from mitral valve prolapse, iron
deficiency, anemia, hypothyroidism, cervical discogenic disease, cervica myofascial pain, L-5
radiculopathy, fibromyalgia, and depression, as well as their well-documented sequel ae.

101. Fromon or about September 9, 1998 through on or about June 27, 2001, First UNUM
appropriately paid Ms. Washington her long-term disability benefits.

102.  UnumProvident caused the termination of Ms. Washington’s benefits on or about
June 27, 2001 based upon an in-house medical review which purportedly determined that Ms.
Washington should be able to resume full time employment as an attorney.
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103. By correspondencedated July 21, 2002, Ms. Washington appeal ed theinitial adverse
long-term disability benefit determination pursuant to 29 C.F.R § 2560.503-1(g).

104. In her appeal, Ms. Washington conclusively demonstrated that she satisfied the
definition of disability set forth in her group policy.

105. By way of adecision onreview dated August 30, 2001, UnumProvident caused the
previous adverse benefit determination to be upheld.

106. Thebasisfortheadversedecisionon review wasUnumProvident’ sin-house medical
department’s purported determination that the restrictions and limitations placed upon Ms.
Washington by her primary treating physician were overly excessive and that she should beable to
perform the job duties of an attorney on afull time basis.

107.  Upon information and belief, UnumProvident’s formulation, implementation and
application of theforegoing uniform offending claims practices has caused, and continuesto cause,

harm to Ms. Washington in violation of ERISA.

Karen Gately

108. On September 12,1983, plaintiff Karen Gately becameempl oyed asaregistered nurse
with the North Shore-Long Island Jewish Health System, at Long Island Jewish Medical Center
(“L1J) in New York.

109.  During her employment withL1J,Ms. Gately becameinsured under group long-term
disability policy number issued by First UNUM Life Insurance Company, a subsidiary of
UnumProvident.
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110. OnAugust 1, 1995 Ms. Gately became disabled dueto fatigue, loss of balance, joint
pain and swelling, short term memory loss, and confusion, arising out of her contracting lyme
disease.

111.  First UNUM appropriately paid Ms. Gately her long-term disability benefits from
on or about January 27, 1996 through on or about November 29, 2001.

112.  UnumProvident caused thetermination M s. Gately’ shenefitson or about November
29, 2001 dleging that the information in her file indicated that there was no “objective” data
regarding her Epstein Barr virus, lyme disease, chronic fatigue, and cognitive dysfunction.

113. By correspondencedated May 9, 2002, Ms. Gately appealed theinitia adverselong-
term disability benefit determination, pursuant to 29 C.F.R § 2560.503-1(g).

114. Inher apped, Ms. Gately conclusively demonstrated that she satisfied the definition
of disability set forth in her group policy.

115. By way of a decision on review dated July 8, 2002, UnumProvident caused the
previous adverse benefit determination to be upheld.

116. Thebasisfortheadversedecision on review was UnumProvident’ sin-house medical
department’ s purported determination that her well-documented symptomswerenot supported by
objective evidence.

117.  Upon information and belief, UnumProvident’s formulation, implementation and
application of theforegoing uniform offending claims practices has caused, and continuesto cause,
harm to Ms. Gately in violation of ERISA.

Thomas Rocco
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118.  Plaintiff ThomasRocco becameemployed with Oppenheimer & Co., Inc. inor about
1986. Mr. Rocco then became an employee of the Canadian Imperial Bank of Commerce (*CIBC”)
asaresult of its purchase of Oppenheimer & Co. Inc. in or about November 1997.

119. Duringhis employment with CIBC, Mr. Rocco becameinsured under agroup long-
term disability policy issued by Provident Life and Casualty Insurance Company, a subsidiary of
UnumProvident.

120. On or about February 2, 2000, Mr. Rocco became disabled due to the symptoms
arising out of his Meniere’ s disease, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, diabetes mellitus 11,
hearing loss, and anxiety disorder.

121.  Provident paid Mr. Rocco his long-term disability benefits from in or about
September 2000 through on or about May 30, 2001.

122.  UnumProvident caused atermination of Mr. Rocco’s claim on or about May 31,
2001, based upon itsin-house medical department’ sreview of Mr. Rocco’s claim file.

123. By correspondencedated November 19, 2001, Mr. Rocco appealed theinitial adverse
long-term disability benefit determination pursuant to 29 C.F.R. § 2560.503-1(g).

124. Inhisappea, Mr. Rocco conclusively demonstrated that he satisfied the definition
of disability set forth in his group policy.

125. By way of adecisiononreview dated on or about February 20, 2002, UnumProvident
caused the prior adverse benefit determination to be upheld based on its in-house medical
department’ sreview of additional medical evidence submitted in support of Mr. Rocco’ s appeal .

126. Upon information and belief, UnumProvident’s formulation, implementation and
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application of the foregoing uniform offending claims practices has caused, and continuesto cause,
harm to Mr. Rocco in violation of ERISA.

Thomas P. Davis

127.  Plaintiff ThomasDavis became employed for Glaxo and itspredecessor, SmithKline
Beecham, (“GlaxoSmithKline’) as aProduct Safety Reporting Associate in April 1987.

128.  During his employment with GlaxoSmithKline, Mr. Davis became insured under a
group long-term disability policy issued by Prudential Insurance Company (“Prudential”), and
thereafter, The Hartford (“Hartford”).

129.  OnJuly 16,1991, Mr. Davis became disabled with labyrinth dysfunction, producing
balance and reading disabilities.

130. Prudential, and subsequently Hartford, approved and paid long-term disability
payments until UnumProvident, as substituted administrator, terminated his benefits on or about
February 13, 2001.

131. Mr. Davis disabling condition did not significantly change during the time his
disability payments were approved and paid by Prudential and Hartford, and his condition has not
significantly changed to date.

132.  Within the past 45 days, UnumProvident agreed to reinstate Mr. Davis benefits.

133. Notwithstanding, upon information and belief, UnumProvident’s formulation,
implementationand application of theforegoing uniform offending claimspracticeshas caused, and
continues to cause, harm to Mr. Davisin violation of ERISA.

Bruce D. Reitman
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134. Plaintiff Bruce Reitman wasemployed by The Centersfor Dialysis Care (“CDC”) as
diaysistechnician.

135.  During his employment with CDC, Mr. Reitman became insured through a group
policy administered by UnumProvident.

136. Despitestrugglingwithmultiplesclerosis, Mr. Reitman continuedtowork periodically
as long as he could, receiving benefits to off-set the loss opf income during periods when he was
unable to work because of hismedical condition.

137.  Onorabout April 2,2001, UnumProvident terminated Mr. Reitman’ sbenefits, stating
that it could “find no explanation” for his*recent exacerbation” of increased fatigue which caused
him to be unable to perform the 20-30 hours per week he had been working.

138. UnumProvident ignored thereports of treating physiciansand the progressive nature
of Mr. Reitman’ s disease.

139.  Upon information and belief, UnumProvident’s formulation, implementation and
application of the foregoing uniform offending claims practices has caused, and continuesto cause,
harm to Mr. Reitman in violation of ERISA.

Anne Coolidge Gerken

140. Plaintiff Ann Coolidge Gerken, a long-time, valued and trusted employee, became
employed by UnumProvident as a mid-level executivein 1992.

141.  During her employment with UnumProvident, Ms. Gerken was became insured by
the Company’ s group long-term disability policy.

142.  In 1999, Ms. Gerken suffered the onset of clinical depression and was unable to
perform her duties.
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143.  Without regard for their own past valuations of their own employee’'s character,
UnumProvident rescinded M s. Gerken’ sindividual disability plan by contendingthat shelied on her
application for her individual plan and was not working as a result of “character or personality
pathology” aswell asa*lifestyle choice.”

144.  Upon information and belief, UnumProvident’s formulation, implementation and
application of theforegoing uniform offending claims practices has caused, and continuesto cause,
harm to Ms. Gerken in violation of ERISA.

M arvina Jenkins

145.  Plaintiff MarvinaJenkins began employment with The Money Store as a bank loan
officer.

146.  Duringher employment with TheMoney Store, M s. Jenkinswas provided withlong-
term disability coverage through a group policy administered by UnumProvident.

147.  On or about April 1999, Ms Jenkins suffered cognitive injury due to oxygen
deprivationtothebrain, anoxic encephal opathy, producingan 1Q of 62 accordingto the State of New
Jersey’ s examining expert.

148.  On or about September 14, 2000, UnumProvident terminated Ms. Jenkins' benefits,
claiming she wasfit to return to work.

149.  Upon information and belief, UnumProvident’s formulation, implementation and
application of theforegoing uniform offending claims practices has caused, and continuesto cause,
harm to Ms. Jenkinsin violation of ERISA.

Edmundo M. Rombeiro

150. Paintiff Edmundo Rombeiro was employed by Next Level Communications Corp.
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(“Next Level”) as amechanical technician.

151.  During his employment with Next Level, Mr. Rombeiro became insured under a
group long-term disability policy issued by UNUM and UnumProvident to Next Level, for Mr.
Rombeiro’ s benefit.

152.  On or about May 16, 2000, Mr. Rombeiro suffered from severe, debilitating,
uncontrolled diabetes, reaching a glucose count of 710 (normal range being between 70-115), and
suffered consequent effects, including permanent diabetic neuropathy (loss of feeling and
coordination of extremities), blurred vision, dizziness, severe fatigue, and nerve damage.

153.  Subsequently, Mr. Rombeiro’ s physicianforwarded hiswritten medical opinion that
Mr. Rombeiro was disabled as his condition rendered him unable to safely perform his usual
occupation.

154. Despite his verified and serious condition, UnumProvident denied Mr. Rombeiro’s
request for benefits under his plan and informed him that coverage under his policy would be
terminated.

155.  Onor about October 29,2001, UnumProvident terminated Mr. Rombeiro’ scoverage.

156. Upon information and belief, UnumProvident’s formulation, implementation and
application of theforegoing uniform offending claims practices has caused, and continuesto cause,
harm to Mr. Rombeiro in violation of ERISA.

Susan B. Rudrud

157.  Plaintiff Susan Rudrud wasemployed by Reliastar Financial Corporation (“Reliastar”)
asa Second Vice President of the Retirement Plan Division.
158. During her employment, Ms. Rudrud became insured under a group long-term
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disability policy issued by The Paul Revere, a subsidiary of UnumProvident, to Reliastar for Ms.
Rudrud’ s benefit.

159.  In 1993, Ms. Rudrud began experiencingflu-likesymptoms and fatigue. Eventually,
she was diagnosed with fibromyalgia, chronic fatigue syndrome, and post-viral asthenia.

160. InMay 1996, Ms. Rudrud’s conditionforced her to stop working. Shethen received
short term disability benefits though her employer until August 1996.

161. Between August 13, 1996 and September 9, 1996, Ms. Rudrud again attempted to
work on apart-timebasis, however, such attempts were unsuccessful and she ceased working again
on September 10, 1996.

162. Thereafter, Ms. Rudrud applied for and was approved for long-term disability
payments through Paul Revere and began receiving such benefits as of November 9, 1996.

163. Despite her documented history, unchanged condition, and entitlement to benefits,
by letter dated April 9, 2001, Ms. Rudrud was notified by UnumProvident that her benefits were
beingterminated because shenolonger met thedefinition for either total or residual disability under
her plan.

164. By correspondence dated May 15, 2001, Ms. Rudrud filed an appeal of the
termination of her benefits with medical documentation conclusively establishing that she satisfied
the definition of disability set forth in her group policy.

165. By way of adecision on review, dated September 18, 2001, UnumProvident caused

the previous adverse benefit determination to be upheld.
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166.  Further, UnumProvident maintained its position that Ms. Rudrud was not disabled
from amedical standpoint and that her claim was being reclassified as a claim for benefits due to
mental disability -- aclaim limited to 24 months under her plan.

167. Ms. Rudrud never listed a mental or nervous condition as abasis for her claim and
no medical documentation was ever submitted by Ms. Rudrud’s physicians, or from any other
source, indicating that Ms. Rudrud suffered from amental or nervous condition.

168. On or about December 7, 2001, Ms. Rudrud submitted a second appeal, again
attaching supporting documentation of her true condition. By letter dated January 30, 2002,
UnumProvident informed Ms. Rudrud that their prior decision was being upheld and that she had
exhausted her administrative remedies.

169. The administrative claim file produced by UnumProvident on Ms. Rudrud’s case
indicated that her claimwas subjected to thedubi ous roundtable processand reviewed by Dr. Patrick
F.McSharry,who previoudly testified about UnumProvident’ sabusiveclaimspracticesand that such
practices prevented him from fully and fairly evaluating the disability claims he reviewed.

170. Upon information and belief, UnumProvident’s formulation, implementation and
application of theforegoing uniform offending claims practices has caused, and continuesto cause,
harm to Ms. Rudrud in violation of ERISA.

Barbara Schwartz

171. Plaintiff BarbaraSchwartz becamean employee of Fairview Hospital at the Fairview

University Medical Center as aregistered nurse in Healthcare Servicesin July 1995.
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172.  During her employment at Fairview Hospital, Ms. Schwartz became insured under
a group long-term disability policy issued by UNUM Life, a UnumProvident subsidiary, to her
employer for her benefit.

173.  In 1996, Ms. Schwartz began experiencing symptoms of nausea, vomiting, diarrhea
and gastrointestinal bleeding with severe abdominal pain. Ms. Schwartz has been hospitalized on
several occasions from October 1996 to the present for these conditions.

174. Between December 29, 1996 and February 4, 2000, Ms. Schwartz made anumber of
attempts to return to work but was unable to do so for any significant period of time. During this
time, Ms. Schwartz received disability payments through her long-term disability plan.

175. OnFebruary 4, 2000, Ms. Schwartz, unable to continueworkingon any basis, ceased
workingentirely. Thereafter, UnumProvident approved and paid disability benefitsto Ms. Schwartz.

176. On August 1, 2000, UnumProvident abruptly terminated Ms. Schwartz’s benefits
clamingthat Ms. Schwartz was not receiving regular care for her disabling condition asrequired by
her policy. Her policy defined “regular care” as the amount “you personally visit a doctor as
frequently asismedically required, accordingto standard medical practice, to effectively manageand
treat your disabling condition(s); and you are receiving appropriate treatment and care of your
disabling condition(s) by a doctor whose specialty or experience is appropriate for your disabling
condition(s).”

177. Despite Ms. Schwarz providing UnumProvident with sufficient medical
documentation establishing she met the definition of “disabled” under her plan and that she was
receiving regular care for her condition by a physician, UnumProvident upheld its termination of

benefits decision.



178. Theadministrative claim file produced by UnumProvident on Ms. Schwartz' s case
indicated that her claim was subjected to the dubious and abusive roundtable process.

179.  Upon information and belief, UnumProvident’s formulation, implementation and
application of theforegoing uniform offending claims practices has caused, and continuesto cause,
harm to Ms. Schwatz in violation of ERISA.

Sharon Dauphinee

180.  Plaintiff Sharon Dauphinee was employed by Eastern Maine Medical Center as a
registered nurse and became insured under agroup long-term disability policy issued by UNUM, a
UnumProvident subsidiary, to her employer for her benefit.

181. In 1998, after working for years with chronic back pain, the condition became an
impediment to her being able to fulfill her duties. MRI imagestaken in December 1998 showed that
Ms. Dauphinee had severe disk degeneration, most notably at the L4-5 level.

182.  Shortly after theMRI study, Mr. Dauphinee could no longer work and wasforced to
leave her long-term career asanurse. Although she desired to work she could no longer function as
anurse and was not skilled for any other profession. Consequently, she applied and was approved
for long-term disability benefits under her plan.

183.  On September 30, 2002, Ms. Dauphinee’ sbenefitswere abruptly terminated by letter
from UnumProvident. In the letter, UnumProvident informed Ms. Dauphinee that she was fit to
resume her occupation asanurse “asit isnormally performed in the national economy, instead of
how the work tasks are performed for a specific employer at a specific location.”

184. Paradoxicaly, nursing, asitisgenerally performed, involvesagreat deal of physical

labor, including walking, lifting, assisting patientsin transfers and ambul ation, aswell asmany other
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active duties. UnumProvident, however, went on to narrowly define nursing as involving purely
sedentary duties in order to reach the conclusion that she could return to work.

185. UnumProvidentreferredtoavideoillustratingMs. Dauphineeengagedincertaindaily
activitiesand, without any medical support or other information, concluded that M s. Dauphineewas
“comfortably” conducting her activities. In redlity, the video showslittle more than Ms. Dauphinee
walking very dowly and getting into her car, owly and carefully. On this basis, UnumProvident
terminated a disabled and aging woman'’ s long-term benefits.

186. Upon information and belief, UnumProvident’s formulation, implementation and
application of theforegoinguniform offending claims practices has caused, and continuesto cause,
harm to Ms. Dauphineein violation of ERISA.

Nina DiPaola

187.  Plantiff NinaDiPaolawas employed by Morgan Stanley and insured under agroup
long-term disability policy issued by a UnumProvident subsidiary, to her employer for her benefit.

188. During the course of her employment, Ms. DiPaola developed chronic fatigue
syndrome which left her in a profound state of fatigue on many sequential days, such that she
frequently could not work, let alone get out of her bed.

189. On March 3, 2000, UnumProvident accepted Ms. DiPaola sinitia benefit claim and
began paying her monthly benefits dating back to August 8, 1999.

190. Ms. DiPaola's condition never improved yet, after approximately two years of
receiving benefits, Ms. DiPaola s benefits we abruptly terminated.

191.  UnumProvident did not obtain updated medical recordsro seek further information

onMs. DiPaola scondition, it merely based itsdecision on her prior records which werepreviousy
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approved for disability benefits.
192.  Upon information and belief, UnumProvident’s formulation, implementation and
application of theforegoing uniform offending claims practices has caused, and continuesto cause,

harm to Ms. Dipaolain violation of ERISA.

MarciaHarris

193. Paintiff MarciaHarris becameemployed by theFranklin-Williamson Health Service,
Inc. in February 1978 and, at the time of her disability, was employed asadirector of development
and marketing.

194. Duringthecourseof her employment, M s. Harrisbecameinsured under agrouplong-
term disability policy issued by a UnumProvident subsidiary, to her employer for her benefit.

195.  On or about June 26, 2000, Ms. Harris became disabled and was unable to continue
employment as she was suffering from fibromyalgia, lumbosacral spondylosis, chronic fatigue,
chronic anemia, primary hypothyrodism, osteoperosis, major recurrent depression and attention
deficit disorder. Shea sosuffered from post-traumatic stressdisorder asaresult of sexual harassment
by a union representative.

196. Asaresult of her condition, Ms. Harris went on extended medical leave until March
2001, at which time she was terminated based upon the diagnosis of her treating physician, Dr.
Enzenauer, who determined, based on his medical experience, that Ms. Harris would be unable to
return to work for the foreseeable future.

197.  On June 20, 2001, UnumProvident denied Ms. Harris application for benefits based
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upon an in-house review of her medical records. On August 14, 2001, Ms. Harris wrote to
UnumProvident stating her intention to appeal the denial of benefits pursuant to 29 C.F.R. §82560-
503-1(g). Her letter containedinformation and recordsdemonstrating that she satisfied thedefinition
of disability as set forth in her plan.

198. By letter of January 17, 2202, Cherie T. Gann, Lead Appea Speciaist for
UnumProvident, denied Ms. Harris' appeal, upholding the denia of benefitsdecision. In theletter,
Ms. Gann wrote, “Please be advised that you were paid with areservation of right and received
$22,502.68 in disability and 401(k) benefits of which you were not entitled. At this point, we will
not request repayment of this money, however, we reserve the right to request the same at alater
date at our discretion.”

199.  Upon information and belief, UnumProvident’s formulation, implementation and
application of theforegoing uniform offending claims practi ces has caused, and continuesto cause,
harm to Ms. Harrisin violation of ERISA.

200. Plaintiffs have exhausted their administrative remedies under ERISA.

COUNT ONE
(Against All Defendants)

Breach of Fiduciary Duty Under ERISA

201. Paintiffsand the Class Members repeat and reallege the foregoing paragraphs as
though fully set forth herein.

202. Each of thedefendantswasandisafiduciary within the scope of ERISA [29U.S.C.
§81002(21)(A)(iii) ] by virtueof itshis exercise of discretionary authority, control and responsibility

over the design, implementation and administration of UnumProvident’s uniform claim
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management model, during the relevant time period herein adleged. By virtue of the conduct
described above, UnumProvident has caused, directed and/orimproperly influenced itssubsidiaries
to breach, and theinsuring subsidiaries and theindividua defendants have breached their fiduciary
obligationsto plaintiffs and the Class Members under ERISA [29 U.S.C. § 1104(a)] to discharge
their duties* solely intheinterest of the participantsand beneficiariesand for the exclusive purpose
of providing benefits to participants and their beneficiaries. . . with the care, kill, prudence, and
diligence . . . [of @ prudent man . . . and in accordance with the documents and instruments
governing theplan....”

203. By managing, operating and administering ERISA governed plans in the manner
described above, UnumProvident hasfailed to exercise theutmost loyalty and care of an ordinary
prudent person engaged in a smilar activity under prevailing circumstances, all in violation of
ERISA [29 U.S.C. § 1104(a)(1)(B)].

204. By causingitsinsuringsubsidiariesto uniformly implement and apply theforegoing
offending claims practices, UnumProvident has caused asubstantial failure of these subsidiariesto
dischargetheir fiduciary dutiesinaccordancewithplan documentsand ERISA’ slegidativescheme.
UnumProvident has knowingly participated in these fiduciary violations.

205.  Under Section 405(a) of ERISA, 29 U.S.C. § 1105(a), each defendant fiduciary is
jointly liablewitheach other fiduciary for theseviolations, in that each defendant participated in and
wasin aposition to prevent or restrain the violations, or to disclose the violations to appropriate
enforcement authoritiessuch astheU.S. Department of Labor, stateinsurance commissioners, and

federal and state criminal authorities.



206. Asaresult of the breaches of fiduciary duty as described above, plaintiffs and the
Class Members have been harmed, continue to be harmed, and will be harmed in the future, due
to the acts or omissions detailed above.

207. As participants, beneficiaries, or assignees in ERISA governed benefit plans,
plaintiffsand the ClassMembers are entitled to appropriateequitablerelief under ERISA [29U.S.C.
8 1132(a)(3)] to (a) obtain appropriate injunctive relief immediately stopping the offending and
egregious practices that are causing ongoing harm to plaintiffs and the Class Members, and (b)
redress the violations of §1104 set forth herein.

208. Paintiffsand the Class Members do not have an adequate remedy at law.

COUNT TWO

(Against J. Harold Chandler and Thomas J. Watjen)

Breach of Fiduciary Duty Under ERISA

209. PMaintiffsand the Class Members repeat and reallege the foregoing paragraphs as
though fully set forth herein.

210. Upon information and belief, defendants Chandler and Watjen were and are
fiduciarieswithin the scope of ERISA [29 U.S.C. § 1002(21)(A)(iii) ] by virtueof their exercise of

their discretionary authority, control and responsibility over the design, implementation and
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administration of UnumProvident’s uniform claim management model, during the relevant time
period herein alleged.

211.  Uponinformationandbelief, at Chandler’ sand Watjen’ sdirection, UnumProvident
has caused, directed and/or improperly influenced its subsidiaries to breach their fiduciary
obligationsto plaintiffs and the Class Members under ERISA [29 U.S.C. § 1104(a)] to discharge
thelr duties” solely intheinterest of the participantsand beneficiariesand for the exclusive purpose
of providing benefits to participants and their beneficiaries . . . with the care, skill, prudence, and
diligence . . . [of a] prudent man . . . and in accordance with the documents and instruments
governing theplan....”

212. By directing UnumProvident’s insuring subsidiaries to uniformly implement and
administer ERISA governed plansinthemanner described above, defendants Chandler and Watjen
falled to exercise the duty of utmost loyalty and the duty of care of an ordinary prudent person
engaged in asimilar activity under prevailing circumstances, al in violation of ERISA [29 U.S.C.
§ 1104(a)(1)(B)].

213.  Under Section 405(a) of ERISA, 29 U.S.C. § 1105(a), each defendant fiduciary is
jointly liablewith each other fiduciary for theseviolations, in that each defendant participated inthe
violationsand wasin aposition to prevent or restrain theviolations, or to disclose the violationsto
appropriate enforcement authorities such as the U.S. Department of Labor, state insurance
commissioners, and federal and state criminal authorities.

214. Asaresult of the breaches of fiduciary duty as described above, plaintiffs and the
Class Members have been harmed, continue to be harmed, and will be harmed in the future, due

to the acts or omissions detailed above.
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215. As participants, beneficiaries, or assignees in ERISA governed benefit plans,
plaintiffs and the Class Members are entitled to appropriate declaratory and equitable relief under
ERISA[29 U.S.C. 8§ 1132(a)(3)] to (a) obtain appropriateinjunctiverelief immediately stoppingthe
offending and egregious practices that are causing ongoing harm to plaintiffs and the Class
Membersand (b) redressthe violations of 81104 set forth herein.

216. Plantiffsand the Class Members do not have an adequate remedy at law.

COUNT THREE

(Against All Defendants)

Violation of 29 C.F.R. § 2560.503-1 (b)(iii)(1984)

217. Pantiffsand the Class Members repeat and reallege the foregoing paragraphs as
though fully set forth herein.

218. By virtue of the conduct described above, UnumProvident has wilfully caused,
directed and/or improperly influenced its subsidiaries to engage in, and the insuring subsidiaries
have engaged in unreasonabl e claims procedures in contravention of the proscriptions of ERISA,
andtheregulationspromul gated thereunder [29 C.F.R. 82560.503-1(1)(b)(iii)(1984)], which prohibit
conduct that unduly inhibits or hampers the fair and scrupulously faithful processing of claims.

219. Asaresult of theunreasonable claimsproceduresdescribed above, plaintiffsand the
Class Members have been harmed, continue to be harmed, and will be harmed in the future.

220. As participants, beneficiaries, or assignees in ERISA governed benefit plans,
plaintiffs and the Class Members are entitled to appropriate declaratory and equitable relief under

ERISA [29U.S.C. § 1132(a)(3)] to (a) obtain appropriateinjunctivereief immediately stoppingthe



offending and egregious practices that are causing ongoing harm to plaintiffs and the Class
Members, and (b) redressthe violations of ERISA[29 C.F.R. §2560.503-1] set forth herein.
221. Pantiffsand the Class Members do not have an adequate remedy at law.

COUNT FOUR

(Against All Defendants)

Violation of 29 C.F.R. § 2560.503-1 (b)(3)(2000)

222. Plantiffsand the Class Members repeat and reallege the foregoing paragraphs as
though fully set forth herein.

223. By virtue of the conduct described above, UnumProvident has wilfully caused,
directed and/or improperly influenced its subsidiariesto breach, and theinsuring subsidiaries have
breached, their obligation to maintain reasonable claims procedures in contravention of the
proscriptions of ERISA and the regulations promulgated thereunder [29 C.F.R. §2560.503-
1(1)(b)(3)(2000)], which prohibits conduct that unduly inhibits or hampersthe fair processing of
claims.

224.  Asaresult of theunreasonabl e claimsprocedures described above, plaintiffsand the
Class Members have been harmed, continue to be harmed, and will be harmed in the future.

225. As participants, beneficiaries, or assignees in ERISA governed benefit plans,
plaintiffs and the Class Members are entitled to appropriate declaratory and equitable relief under
ERISA [29 U.S.C. §1132(a)(3)] to (a) obtain appropriateinjunctiverdief immediately stopping the
offending and egregious practices that are causing ongoing harm to plaintiffs and the Class
Membersand (b) redressthe violations of ERISA[29 C.F.R. 82560.503-1] set forth herein.

226. Plantiffs and the Class Members do not have an adequate remedy at law.
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WHEREFORE, plaintiffs, on behalf of the Class, pray for judgment as follows:

1 Declaring this action to be a proper class action pursuant to Rule 23 of the
Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, and that plaintiffs are proper representatives of the Class;

2. Awardingplaintiffsandthe Classdeclaratory relief determiningtheillegality
of theconduct alleged and injunctiverelief whereby UnumProvident and itssubsidiariesareordered
to immediately cease, in dl States of the United States of America, engaging in the offending
practices delineated herein;

3. Awarding plaintiffs and the Class equitable relief whereby UnumProvident
and the subsidiaries are ordered to institute, under the supervision of the Court, new, national
procedures that are in full compliance with ERISA,;

4, Awardingplaintiffsand theClassequitabl erelief appointingareceiver and/or
special master to serve as a neutral claims adjustor and assume the role of responsibility for
responding to, acting upon, and making determinations pertaining to claims by plaintiffs and the
Classandto provideafull andfar review, asrequired by 29 USC §1133(2), of dl clamsfor benefits
under the plan that have been denied;

5. In the alternative, awarding plaintiffs and the Class a permanent injunction
enjoining J. Harold Chandler, Thomas J. Watjen, UnumProvident and the insuring subsidiary
defendants from serving as claim fiduciaries and an theimposition of aconstructivetrust over the
any trust assets controlled by J. Harold Chandler, Thomas J. Watjen, UnumProvident, and the
insuring subsidiary defendants [29 U.S.C. §1109];

6. Awarding plaintiffs and the Class other appropriate equitable relief;

7. Awarding plaintiffs and the Class their costs and expensesin thislitigation,
including reasonable attorneys’ fees and expert fees,
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8. Awarding plaintiffs and the Classsuch other and further relief asmay bejust

and proper under the circumstances.

Dated: February 25, 2004

By:

Respectfully submitted,

WECHSLER HARWOOD LLP

Robert I. Harwood, Esg.
Matthew M. Houston, Esqg.
Jeffrey M. Norton, Esg.
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